1977

Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Intermountain Farmers Association, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a civil action brought by plaintiff, Union Pacific Railroad Company, to enforce an indemnity provision in its lease agreement with the defendant.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was heard by the court based upon stipulated facts, the Honorable James S. Sawaya, District Judge, presiding. The court found the legal issues in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant. Judgment was entered accordingly. From said conclusions of law and judgment, this appeal is taken.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the case were undisputed and submitted to the court by stipulation of the parties (R 88). The stipulation recites as follows:

1. Union Pacific Railroad Company is now, and has been at all times material hereto, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Utah, operating a railroad system in the State of Utah and in surrounding states.
2. Intermountain Farmers Association is now, and has been at all times material hereto, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Utah.
3. On February 6, 1964, plaintiff and its lessor, Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company, entered into a written agreement with defendant (Hereinafter referred to as "Subject Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "A", and by this reference made a part hereof, that provides in general for the leasing of certain property (Hereinafter referred to as the "Leased Premises"), at Draper, Salt Lake County, Utah, for a warehouse, grainery, cold storage, platform, and driveway site.

4. Pursuant to an extension rider dated October 9, 1968, a copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "B", and by this reference made a part hereof, and an addendum, dated December 31, 1970, a copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "C", and by this reference made a part hereof, the terms and conditions of the Subject Agreement were in full force and effect to and including November 30, 1973.

5. At approximately 7:00 o'clock p.m., on October 31, 1972, at a time when the Subject Agreement was in full force and effect, and while plaintiff's employees were performing a switching operation on the railroad track immediately adjacent to the Leased Premises, one Richard V. Richins, conductor in charge and an employee of plaintiff, sustained severe and permanent injuries. Richins claims that he sustained such injuries when knocked from the second locomotive unit of a two-unit diesel engine upon which he was riding by a spool of cable owned by Intermountain Farmers, said spool of cable being located on the Leased Premises in a position closer than eight (8) feet six (6) inches to the center line of the nearest track of the plaintiff.

6. At the time Richins sustained said injuries, plaintiff was engaged as a common carrier in interstate commerce; Richins was employed by plaintiff in such commerce;

and Richins' said injuries occurred in the scope and course of his employment for plaintiff.

7. At the time Richins sustained his injuries, it was dark and it had just recently stopped snowing. There was some snow on the ground, as evidenced by the photographs secured on the morning following the accident and attached hereto as Exhibits "D", "E", "F", "G", "H" and "I", and by this reference made a part hereof. In addition, attached hereto as Exhibit "J", and by this reference made a part hereof, is a copy of a Local Climatological Data Report showing weather conditions and precipitation levels recorded at the Salt Lake International Airport during the month of October 1972. The scene of the accident is approximately 18 to 20 miles from said weather reporting station in a southeasterly direction.

8. The train in question, consisting of two locomotive units, twelve loaded cars, twenty empty cars, and a caboose, departed Salt Lake City, Utah, at approximately 6:00 o'clock p.m., on October 31, 1972, enroute to Provo, Utah.

9. The train arrived at Intermountain Farmers Association's facility at Draper, Utah, shortly before 7:00 o'clock p.m., and was stopped on the main line track adjacent to defendant's facility headed generally in an eastbound

compass direction.

10. Immediately to the north of the Leased Premises were three sets of railroad tracks as shown in the print marked Exhibit "K", and by this reference made a part hereof. The trackage immediately north of defendant's facility is identified as the "Poultry Track," the center track is identified as the "Main Line Track," and the track to the north of the Leased Premises is identified as the "Passing Track." The area north of defendant's facility and north of where the tracks are located is fenced by the land owner on the north, said fence running east and west. See three photographs taken September 26, 1975, and marked Exhibit "Q", attached hereto, and by this reference made a part hereof. The area north of the fence referred to as depicted in these photographs is not owned by or leased by Intermountain Farmers.

11. The two locomotive units (3645-A and 137-B) were detached from the balance of the train remaining on the main line trackage, pulled forward beyond the switch into the poultry track, and subsequently backed in a westerly direction along the poultry track adjacent to the Intermountain Farmers Association's facility.

12. At the time of this backward movement along the poultry track, the engineer, an employee of plaintiff, was

operating the two locomotive units from the east locomotive (3645-A) seated at the controls located on the south side of the east locomotive cab.

13. The brakeman, Levi Ki Tua'one, an employee of plaintiff, was riding the west locomotive (137-B), on the southwest corner thereof. He was a student brakeman and this was his third road trip out of the yard.

14. The lead or west locomotive unit identified as 137-B which entered the poultry track first had two headlights operating at the time to illuminate the track and right of way. These headlights, located one above the other on the horizontal center line of the locomotive, approximately 12 feet 5 inches above the rail, were seven inches in diameter and produced a total beam candle power of 600,000 units. The brakeman claims there was plenty of light to see the tracks as they were backing. He said he had no trouble seeing where he was going (Deposition of Tua'one, pages 9 and 34).

15. The purpose of the westerly inbound movement was to pick up two empty but separated box cars located on the poultry track serving the defendant. These two box cars (UP 165227 and LN 12470) at the time of the inbound move were located over the bare spots in the snow depicted in Exhibit "D".

16. During the westerly inbound move on the poultry track, the southwest steps of Unit 137-B upon which the brakeman was riding at the time must have passed by or over the spool of cable; however, the brakeman claims he did not observe the spool of cable. He says he was maintaining a lookout and did not see any obstruction or obstacle to the movement of the train.

17. Plaintiff's employees claim they were performing their duties for the railroad company in the customary and routine manner under the circumstances. The railroad company procedure is such that before backing a train, the track must be free from obstruction to train movement and the track must either be seen during the movement or known to be clear (Richins' Deposition, page 53).

18. During the westbound movement on the poultry track, Conductor Richins, who had been riding the caboose from Salt Lake City to Draper, had dismounted from the caboose and had walked easterly between the main line track and the poultry track to assist in the switching operation being conducted on the poultry track (Second Deposition of Richins, pages 22 and 23).

19. Mr. Richins stated in his deposition,

"Q. Did you know when you left the yard to go south that he was a new man --

"A. Yes.

"Q. -- a new brakeman?

"A. Yes. That is why I was going to help.

"Q. Had he been an experienced brakeman, would you have left the caboose that night?

"A. I'd have left the caboose but chances are I wouldn't have concentrated so much on the work that was at hand. I would have -- there are other duties that I have that I could have been doing.

"Q. You would have allowed him -- if he had been an experienced brakeman you would have allowed him to do the connecting himself?

"A. That's right.

"Q. You wouldn't have assisted him in doing that necessarily unless he asked?

"A. Unless I happened to be there. If I had arrived there at a time when I could assist I'd assist, but in inspecting the train, when I walk up, instead of concentrating so much on getting up there helping him, I would have spent more time looking the train over." (Second Deposition of Richins, pages 22 and 23.)

20. After the two locomotives reached the first car on the poultry track, identified as UP 165227, the brakeman made the connection between the two locomotives and said car.

21. Conductor Richins, who by this time had arrived at the west car on the poultry track (LN 12470), transmitted instructions to the engineer by walkie-talkie radio which he was carrying to facilitate the coupling between UP 165227 and LN 12470. The track where the switching was being conducted was curved in such a manner that the engineer could not see to the rear of the train and visually receive signals from the brakeman or conductor, so the conductor was transmitting signals by radio in the customary and authorized manner under such circumstances.

22. After the coupling had been completed and the brake air lines charged, Conductor Richins advised the engineer by walkie-talkie radio to commence the eastbound movement in order to return to the main line trackage and the balance of the train.

23. As the movement commenced, Conductor Richins and the brakeman simultaneously stepped aboard the southwest corner of trailing locomotive 137-B. Richins testified that he would not have mounted the train as it moved out to the main line but would have walked over to the caboose if it hadn't been for the rubbish, slimy dust, brain dust or grain on the ground in the area (See Richins' deposition, page 28, lines 1-5;

page 34, lines 6-11; page 35, lines 5-13, 22-25; and page 36, lines 1-2).

24. The brakeman claims he had both of his feet located on the bottom step of trailing locomotive 137-B, as depicted in the photograph marked Exhibit "L", and Conductor Richins claims he had his right foot on the bottom step and left foot on the foot board, as depicted in said Exhibit "L". Richins said both men were crowding onto the same area but that such a situation was not abnormal or unusual with a student brakeman (Second Deposition of Richins, page 18).

25. After the movement had obtained the speed of approximately three to five miles per hour and had moved approximately two box car lengths, Conductor Richins claims he was knocked off the moving train by the spool of cable owned by the defendant and depicted in Exhibits "E", "F", "G", "H", and "I", precipitating the injuries sustained.

26. At the time of the accident, Conductor Richins was riding the train movement on the south side of the poultry track next to the Intermountain Farmers Association's facility, under lease to the defendant. The spool of one-half inch steel cable, as depicted in the photographs marked Exhibits "E", "F", "G", "H", and "I", at the time of the accident was located

within eight (8) feet six (6) inches from the center line of the poultry track immediately adjacent to the Leased Premises.

27. Neither plaintiff nor any of its employees, agents, servants, etc. claims to have been aware of or to have observed the subject spool of cable at any time prior to the accident.

28. After the accident, the spool of cable owned by defendant was observed to be located approximately one foot south of the south rail of the poultry track in the location shown in the photographs marked Exhibits "E", "F", "G", "H", and "I". The distance between the rails of the poultry track was four (4) feet eight and one-half (8½) inches.

29. Defendant claims to have last seen the spool of cable located right next to its building immediately south of the poultry track where the accident occurred. At about 11:00 o'clock a.m. on the day prior to the accident, an employee of defendant, Robert W. Turley, its plant manager, made an inspection of the building, by walking along the same. Such inspections were made approximately once a week (Turley deposition, pages 14, 15 and 37).

30. Defendant's employees disclaim having any knowledge as to how the spool of cable got to its location at

or near the track on the night of the accident. The night of the accident in question was Halloween night.

31. The dimensions of the spool were approximately one (1) foot in height by two (2) feet four (4) inches in length. Attached to the spool was some one-half inch (1/2) steel cable. The defendant claims it never used the spool and cable.

32. By letter, dated December 15, 1972, plaintiff advised defendant in writing of the subject accident, expressed the opinion that legal action was apparent, and provided defendant full opportunity to defend or participate in the disposition thereof. (A copy of said letter, marked Exhibit "M", is attached hereto.)

33. On or about January 29, 1973, said Richard V. Richins filed an action, alleging negligent conduct against the Railroad, in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entitled "Richard V. Richins vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company," identified as Civil Number 210084, demanding judgment for injuries sustained in the above-described accident in the sum of \$750,000.00; such action was brought under and by virtue of the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 U.S.C.A., Section 51, et seq.

34. On February 21, 1973, the Railroad notified Intermountain Farmers in writing of the pendency of such action and again provided Intermountain Farmers full opportunity to defend the Railroad or participate in the defense against Richins' law suit. A copy of said notification is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "N", and by this reference made a part hereof. By letter, dated March 22, 1973, Intermountain Farmers declined to accept tender of the case.

35. By a hand-delivered letter, dated and delivered October 24, 1973, the Railroad advised Intermountain Farmers that, following extensive settlement negotiations with Richard V. Richins' legal counsel, the Railroad had agreed to compromise Mr. Richins' case for \$162,500.00. In said letter, the Railroad requested that Intermountain Farmers be prepared to tender the compromise payment of \$162,500.00 to Mr. Richins at the settlement conference scheduled for October 31, 1973. A copy of said letter is attached hereto as Exhibit "O", and by this reference made a part hereof.

36. On October 31, 1973, the Railroad, by way of compromise and in order to settle Mr. Richins' action and secure a release, paid to said Richard V. Richins the sum of

\$162,500.00. Intermountain Farmers' name was included in the Release, but not by its request. A copy of said Release is attached hereto as Exhibit "P", and by this reference made a part hereof.

37. At all times mentioned herein, Intermountain Farmers rejected the tender of defense of the claim and suit brought by Mr. Richins and rejected any and all offers of the Railroad to enter into negotiations and/or settlement of Richins' suit.

38. On or about November 15, 1973, the Railroad instituted this action to recover from the Intermountain Farmers said \$162,500.00, together with defense costs and expenses in the sum of \$1,195.00, reasonable attorneys' fees in the sum of \$1,840.00, and deposition expenses of \$97.50, for a total sum of \$165,632.50.

39. Under the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act herein referred to, a jury issue was presented as to whether or not the Railroad was negligent and would have been held legally liable to Richard V. Richins for the injuries he sustained as described above, and the Railroad could have been held legally liable by a jury or court for such injuries sustained.

40. It is agreed by the parties that the settlement made by the Railroad with Conductor Richins in his law suit under the provisions of said Federal Employers' Liability Act is deemed reasonable in all respects, including all costs and attorneys' fees.

41. The respective parties further stipulate that all depositions taken in this action may be published and used by the Court for the purpose of making its decision herein.

From the facts set forth above, the plaintiff contended that it was entitled to indemnification by the terms of its lease agreement with the defendant. The lease provisions applicable are as follows:

"Section 5. It is especially covenanted and agreed that the use of the leased premises or any part thereof for any unlawful or immoral purposes whatsoever is expressly prohibited; that the Lessee shall hold harmless the Lessor and the leased premises from any and all liens, fines, damages, penalties, forfeitures, or judgments in any manner accruing by reason of the use or occupation of said premises by the Lessee; and that the Lessee shall at all times protect the Lessor and the leased premises from all injury, damage, or loss by reason of the occupation of the leased premises by the Lessee, or from any cause whatsoever growing out of said Lessee's use thereof." (Emphasis ours.)

"Section 11. The Lessee shall be liable for any and all injuries to or damage to persons or property, of whatsoever nature or kind, arising out of or contributed to by any breach in whole or in part of any covenant of this agreement." (R 99, 100)

From said stipulated facts and based upon the lease provisions, the court entered its Conclusions of Law. In doing so, the court concluded as a matter of law that the lease agreement between the parties required the defendant to indemnify the plaintiff Railroad for any injuries sustained by Richard V. Richins, the employee of the Railroad, as a result of his accident on October 31, 1972, while performing duties for the Railroad on the leased premises. The court further found as a matter of law as follows:

"The Court further concludes that the negligence of either party is not an issue or a necessary element to the conclusion of this action." (R 155)

The trial court concluded as a matter of law that regardless of the negligence of the Railroad, Intermountain Farmers, or both, the lease agreement provided absolute indemnification and in effect, required that defendant be an insurer of the safety of the employees of the Railroad while switching operations took place on defendant's leased premises.

POINT URGED FOR REVERSAL

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DETERMINED THAT PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO UNRESTRICTED INDEMNIFICATION FROM DEFENDANT BY VIRTUE OF THE TERMS OF THE LEASE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DETERMINED THAT PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO UNRESTRICTED INDEMNIFICATION FROM DEFENDANT BY VIRTUE OF THE TERMS OF THE LEASE.

Plaintiff's employee, Richins, the conductor of the train in question, was injured on the leased premises of Intermountain Farmers Association while an engine was being used to remove two empty box cars from the premises. The plaintiff's brakeman, working with Richins, signaled to the engineer of the train to back into the premises of the defendant when the area adjacent to the track was apparently obstructed with a partially wound spool of cable (Exhibit "A"). By stipulation of facts, the parties admitted that although the train carried dual headlights emitting 600,000 candle power lighting the tracks, the trainee brakeman nevertheless claimed that he failed to see the spool near the track. He admitted there was plenty of light to see the tracks as they were slowly backing and he had no trouble seeing where he was going. (R 91) It was also admitted by the Railroad's employees and the plaintiff herein that railroad

regulations forbid the backing of a train unless the track is free of obstruction to the movement of the train and the regulations further require that the railroad employees must either be able to see the track during the train's movement or know for a fact that the track and surrounding area are clear. (R 92) In any event, the engine and one car passed by the spool and came to a stop with the spool very near the edge of the tracks as is evidenced by Exhibit "B". At this point, the conductor, Richins, connected the second car and then got onto the platform of the engine with the trainee brakeman. Both employees attempted to occupy the same step or platform of the locomotive as the engine started its forward movement out of the siding. As the train commenced moving out of the yard, a portion of the engine apparently again passed near the spool where the leg of the conductor, Richins, evidently, in some manner, came in contact with the spool, causing him to fall to the ground resulting in severe injuries to his right leg.

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