1976

Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Intermountain Farmers Association, Inc. : Brief of Plaintiff- Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The Railroad Company's cause of action against the Moline Company, however, is not primarily based upon tort, nor is it dependent upon negligence. The liability of the Moline Company arises from

its breach of this indemnity provision of the contract. The rule as to proximate cause is not available to the Moline Company because by its contract it agreed to indemnify against loss "from and against any and all damages, remote as well as proximate, in any wise resulting from any non-performance or non-observance of the foregoing covenant concerning lateral distance or perpendicular height, for which the Railway Company shall become, in whole or in part, liable or be charged." The jury, in answer to an interrogatory proposed by appellant, found that plaintiff's injuries resulted in whole or in part from "the presence of the trash box within six feet laterally at right angles from the nearer rail of track 4." It thus appears that the damages from which the appellant agreed to hold the Railroad Company harmless need not have been caused solely by any negligence on its part, nor was the act of the Moline Company required to be the proximate cause of the loss. A liability resulted even though such act were the remote cause.

The case of John P. Gorman Coal Co. v. Louisville & N. R. Co., 213 Ky. 551, 281 S.W. 487, is strikingly similar in its facts to the case at bar. In that case the Coal Company agreed to maintain and keep the tracks free from obstructions and to hold the Railroad harmless on account of any loss arising from a violation of the provision. In the course of the opinion it is said:

"The obligation to keep the tracks free from obstruction, and to hold the appellee harmless from any claims on account of any failure on appellant's part to so keep the tracks, is an absolute one. Appellant might have made it a condition of liability that it should be guilty of some negligence, but

this it did not do. It was free to make any contract it chose so long as it was not against public policy, and, having chosen to undertake an absolute liability rather than a qualified one, it cannot now be heard to complain of the choice it made." [Emphasis added.]

In Northern P. Ry. Co. v. National Cylinder G. Div. of C.C., 467 P.2d 884 (Wash. 1970), the railroad was awarded full contractual indemnity from a rail welding contractor for injuries sustained by a railroad employee whose leg was crushed by a moving rail. The court took special note of the fact that the agreement was silent on the question of whether the negligence of either party was relevant to the obligation of the industry to indemnify the railroad and concluded that causation rather than negligence controlled. In this regard, the court states at pages 887-88:

The trial court commented in its oral opinion it was significant the agreement at no point mentioned the word "negligent" or any concept of fault. It noted the language used concerned itself solely with the occurrence of an incident which would later give rise to a claim or lawsuit. . . .

The trial court concluded the agreement was a clear undertaking based upon causation rather than negligence or fault and had the intention of the parties been otherwise, they could clearly and simply have provided in the agreement that the obligation to indemnify would be subject to fault on the part of National in

connection with some phase of the welding operation. . . .

National argues that inasmuch as the trial court did not find negligence on its part, it cannot be required to indemnify Northern Pacific. Under the terms of the indemnity provision of the contract, the trial court's finding that National's activities caused the injuries out of which the claim arose is sufficient to establish liability. . . .

See also Louisiana & Arkansas Railway Co. v. Anthony, 199 F.Supp. 286 (W.D. Ark. 1961), aff'd 316 F.2d 858 (8th Cir. 1963), cert. denied 375 U.S. 830 (1963).

In Missouri Pacific R. Co. v. Rental Storage & T. Co., 524 S.W.2d 898 (Mo. 1975), the railroad company sought contractual indemnity from an industry pursuant to the provisions of a spur track agreement for \$63,500, which it had paid to an employee's widow under the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act. During a switching movement over this spur, the widow's decedent had been caught and crushed to death between a boxcar and a loading dock. The contract, in relevant part, required the industry to indemnify the railroad for any liability, claims or losses which were "in any manner caused by, arising out of or connected with" its covenant to maintain proper, horizontal clearances between the center line of the spur track and any buildings, structures, fixtures, materials or obstructions. 524 S.W.2d

at 902. The trial court awarded judgment to the railroad and the industry appealed, claiming that the railroad had failed to establish that the railroad's liability accrued as a direct and proximate cause of the industry's breach of the close clearance covenant. In this regard, there was evidence that the industry's lessee may have been the party directly responsible for the close clearance impairment. The Missouri Court of Appeals first expressly rejected any suggestion that common law tort concepts of proximate cause were applicable, 524 S.W.2d at 910, and then held that the "arising out of or connected with" language of the contract controlled. 524 S.W.2d at 909-10.

It is significant to note that the provisions of Sections 1, 5, 8, and 11 of the agreement between Intermountain Farmers and Union Pacific do not mention the concept of negligence and/or fault. Section 11 provides that Intermountain Farmers shall be liable for any and all injury to any person "arising out of or contributed to by any breach in whole or in part of any covenant of this agreement". This language is completely free from any ambiguity and is as absolute in its terms as is the language in Section 8 wherein Intermountain Farmers covenanted not to place, pile, store, stack or maintain any material or obstruction of any kind or character closer than eight feet six inches to the center line of the nearest Union Pacific track. Based upon

this language and the authorities discussed above, Union Pacific clearly is entitled to full indemnification from Intermountain Farmers.

C. Even if Union Pacific were negligent in the manner claimed by Intermountain Farmers, which negligence Union Pacific expressly denies, such negligence would not be sufficient to bar Union Pacific's recovery.

As in the instant case, the industry in Missouri Pacific, supra, also claimed that the railroad was not entitled to indemnification under the contract because it was guilty of contributory negligence. The industry phrased this contention in terms of "knowing acquiescence" by the switch crew, of which the widow's decedent was a member, in continuing operations in the face of the open and obvious hazard presented by the material which was stacked in violation of the close clearance covenant in the contract. The court rejected this defense on several grounds. First, it noted that the defense is strictly limited when the right to indemnity arises ex contractu as was the situation in the case before it. The court went on, however, to analyze this defense as if plaintiff's action was premised on implied rather than contractual indemnity. The court noted that essentially two elements are necessary in order for the defense to be successfully asserted. First, it must be established that the rail-

road had long, continued awareness of the dangerous condition and had completely failed to take any corrective action or to request the industry to do so. Secondly, it must also be established that the railroad's conduct was so seriously wrong that it would be inequitable to order full restitution. The court then stated that "Something more than imputed legal knowledge of a temporary, though dangerous condition is required, and that is all the evidence suggests here." 524 S.W.2d at 911.

In the instant case, the record indicates that the spool of cable had not been observed in the vicinity of the track on the day prior to Richins' accident (Stipulation, ¶ 29); that Richins' accident occurred at night under poor lighting conditions (Stipulation, ¶ 7); and that the area in question was covered with fresh snow (Stipulation, ¶ 7). Consequently, even if Intermountain Farmers' argument that Union Pacific is barred from seeking indemnity because of Mr. Tua'one's failure to detect the spool of cable in time to prevent Mr. Richins' injury was relevant in the face of the contractual provisions involved here, it is clear from the foregoing that such evidence would not be sufficient to bar Union Pacific's action for indemnity.

Based upon the foregoing, Union Pacific is clearly entitled, under the facts in this case, to recover full indemnity from Intermountain Farmers.

POINT III

UNION PACIFIC IS NOT SEEKING RECOVERY FOR ITS OWN NEGLIGENCE IN THIS ACTION BUT, RATHER, IS SEEKING RECOVERY FOR LIABILITY WHICH WAS VICARIOUSLY IMPOSED UPON IT BY THE FEDERAL EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ACT FOR THE BREACH OF A CONTRACTUAL DUTY OWED IT BY INTERMOUNTAIN FARMERS.

Under the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 U.S.C.A. § 51, et seq., a railroad has a non-delegable duty to furnish its employees with a safe place in which to work, regardless of whether or not it has actual control over the premises upon which the injury occurred.² A railroad is liable under this Act for injuries to its employees which are caused, in whole or in part, by any negligence, no matter how slight, upon the part of the railroad or the injured employee's co-workers. Rogers v. Missouri Pacific R. Co., 352 U.S. 500, 508 (1956). A railroad is precluded from delegating its responsibilities under the Act to a third party; however, it can indemnify itself through a contract such that a third party may be required to satisfy

2

For an excellent discussion of this point in a case quite similar to the one at bar, see Missouri Pacific R. Co. v. Rental Storage & T. Co., supra.

the railroad's statutory obligation by compensating the injured employee for his injury. Scherff v. Missouri-Kansas-Texas Railroad Co., 449 F.2d 23 (5th Cir. 1971); Beachboard v. Southern Railway Company, 193 S.E.2d 577 (N.C. 1972); Inland Container Corp. v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., 266 F.2d 857 (5th Cir. 1959).

Even though the subject agreement does not mention the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act, Inter-mountain Farmers is still held to have known of the existence of this federal statute at the time it executed the subject agreement. Oregon Short Line R. Co. v. Idaho Stockyards Co., 12 Utah 2d 205, 364 P.2d 826 (1961); Southern Pacific Transportation Co. v. Nielsen, 448 F.2d 121 (10th Cir. 1971). Furthermore, a railroad may be guilty of passive negligence and therefore liable to its employee under the Federal Employers' Liability Act and still recover full indemnity from the industry. Louisiana & Arkansas Railway Co. v. Anthony, supra; Booth-Kelly Lumber Co. v. Southern Pacific Co., 183 F.2d 902 (9th Cir. 1950). See also Missouri Pacific R. Co. v. Rental Storage and T. Co., supra.

In the Anthony case, supra, the railroad sought contractual indemnity from a shipper under a spur track agreement for the amount paid by the railroad to one of its employees under the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act for injuries which he had sustained when he

struck the overhang of a moveable shed which had been placed in close proximity to the spur track in violation of the close clearance provision of the spur track agreement. The court, in holding that the railroad was entitled to full indemnity, stated on pages 298-99:

The railway company can be guilty of passive negligence and therefore liable to the claimant under its non-delegable duties as set forth in the F.E.L.A. and still recover full indemnity from the industry. (Citations omitted)

The question of liability of the industry in such cases is to be determined from the indemnity contract and the parties' negligence is to be determined on the basis of the F.E.L.A., 45 U.S.C.A. § 51 et seq., not common law negligence. (Citations omitted)

. . .

This is a case, then, in which the defendant industry was actively negligent in creating and not correcting the unsafe condition adjoining the spur track which caused the accident, while the plaintiff's only negligence consisted of the defendants' negligence vicariously imputed to it by virtue of its nondelegable duty to its employee, . . . to provide him with a safe place to work.

Accord, Baltimore and Ohio R. Co. v. Alpha Portland Cement Co.,
218 F.2d 207 (3d Cir. 1955).

In the landmark Booth-Kelly case, supra, the railroad sought contractual indemnity from the industry for the full amount paid to an employee under the provisions of the

Federal Employers' Liability Act for injuries sustained by the employee when he struck a wood cart left by the industry within 42 inches of the nearest rail. The trial court awarded the railroad only one-half of the claimed amount and both parties appealed. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals remanded the case with directions to award the railroad full indemnity under the spur track agreement. The court differentiated between "active" and "passive" negligence, concluding that the industry was actively negligent in placing and leaving the cart within 42 inches from the track and that the railroad was passively negligent because of its failure "to make safe a dangerous condition of land or chattels, which was created by the misconduct of another, i.e., of Booth-Kelly." 183 F.2d at 911. The court further remarked that "Southern Pacific seeks indemnity not for its own negligence, but rather for that of Booth-Kelly." Id. at 912. In discussing Southern Pacific's negligence, the court stated:

Basic in any determination of the meaning of this whole paragraph is an understanding that when the parties contemplated that there might be claims for indemnity they must have been cognizant of the fact that in the ordinary case the occasion for seeking indemnity would not arise unless the indemnitee had himself been found guilty of some fault, for otherwise no judgment could have been recovered from him. That this is typically true is recognized in the comment under Section 95, Restatement

on Restitution, as follows: "In all of these situations the payor is not barred by the fact that he was negligent in failing to discover or to remedy the defect as a result of which the harm was occasioned; in most of the cases it is because of this failure that he is liable 183 F.2d at 907.

The Utah courts have recognized this distinction between "active" and "passive" negligence in a number of different cases. Salt Lake City v. Schubach, 108 Utah 266, 159 P.2d 149 (1945); Holmstead v. Abbott G.M. Diesel, Inc., 27 Utah 2d 109, 493 P.2d 625 (1972); and Barr v. Brezina Construction Co., 464 F.2d 1141 (10th Cir. 1972), cert. denied 409 U.S. 1125 (1973).

In Gollick v. New York Central Railroad Company, 138 F.Supp. 384 (E.D. Mich. 1956), the railroad sought contractual indemnity from the industry for the amount which it had paid to an employee pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act. The railroad company employee was knocked off the side of a boxcar upon which he was riding when his body contacted a steel "I" beam located perpendicularly between two sets of tracks running into the industry's plant. The "I" beam was a part of the brace for a special door installed by the industry. When the door was opened it was necessary to separately remove the "I" beam and slide it to the side so that there would be sufficient clearance for railroad switching operations. This

accident happened at night after the industry employees had left the plant. The court concluded from the evidence that the door in question was opened by railroad employees who failed to remove the "I" beam. Even though the specific contractual indemnification language in question did not provide for the railroad to be indemnified for its own negligence, the court held that the railroad was entitled to full indemnification in the following language:

We pass to the question of whether or not the contract intended to include indemnity of the Railroad Company where the accident was caused in part by negligence of its own employees. Paragraph Third of the indemnity contract, after providing that the Industry shall not place nor allow any temporary or permanent structure or obstruction within six feet laterally of the tracks then said:

"The industry shall indemnify, and hold harmless, the Railroad Company from any and all liability for loss of life or damage or injury to property or persons (including employees and property of either of the parties hereto), arising by reason of, or which in any way results from, the existence or maintenance of structures or obstructions at clearances less than standard (six feet) * * * " . . .

The Industry "maintained" the "I" beam and in view of the language above quoted it is clear that the intent of the parties was that if the obstruction in any way contributed to the injury, the Industry was to indemnify the Railroad Company therefor without regard to the latter's negligence. . . .

. . .

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